
 

 

Agenda - Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs 

Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee room 4 - Tŷ Hywel  

and video conference via Zoom  

Meeting date: 3 December 2025 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Robert Donovan 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales

Hybrid 
------ 

Private pre-meeting  

09.15 - 09.30 

 

Public session  

09.30 - 11.00 

 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions, and declarations of 

interest 

09.30   

 

2 General Ministerial Scrutiny: Economy 

09.30 - 11.00 (Pages 1 - 38)  

 

Rebecca Evans MS, Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and Planning, 

Welsh Government 

Liz Lalley, Director, Economic Strategy and Green Growth, Welsh Government  

Duncan Hamer, Director of Operations - Business & Regions, Welsh 

Government 

Kate Hearnden, Head of Industry Decarbonisation, Energy & Steel, Welsh 

Government 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

Attached Documents:  

Research brief 

Evidence paper - Welsh Government 

 

3 Papers to note 

11.00   

 

3.1 Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) 

Bill: follow-up to evidence session 

 (Pages 39 - 47)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Chair to the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh 

Language - 21 November 2025 

Response letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language - 

27 November 2025 

Letter from Airbnb - 28 November 2025 

 

3.2 Future of Welsh steel: Trade defence 

 (Pages 48 - 49)  

Attached Documents:  

Response letter from the Minister of State for Trade, UK Government - 21 

November 2025 

 

3.3 Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) 

Bill: Follow-up from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

meeting held on 10 November 2025 

 (Pages 50 - 60)  

Attached Documents:  

Response letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language 



 

 

to the Chair of the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee - 25 

November 2025 

 

3.4 Petition P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the 

veterinary profession in Wales 

 (Pages 61 - 63)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Chair of the Petitions Committee - 25 November 2025 

 

3.5 Freight and Logistics Strategy 

 (Pages 64 - 65)  

Attached Documents:  

Response letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales - 

25 November 2025 

 

3.6 Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) 

Bill: Additional evidence 

 (Pages 66 - 69)  

Attached Documents:  

Evidence paper - North Wales Holiday Cottages 

 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of the meeting, and Standing Order 

17.42(vi) for the whole of the meeting on 11 December 2025 

11.00   

 

Private session  

11.00 - 11.15 



 

 

5 General Ministerial Scrutiny: Consideration of evidence 

11.00 - 11.15   

 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Committee has 
invited the Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and 
Planning to attend a general scrutiny session on the 
Economy on 3 December 2025. This paper is intended 
to inform the discussion, providing an update on 
policy developments in this area, and actions the 
Welsh Government has taken to grow the economy of 
Wales.  
  

Welsh Government 
 

 
 
Welsh Government Evidence 
Paper – Economy  
03/12/2025 

www.gov.wales Pack Page 25



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

2 

Contents 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................... 3 

2. The Welsh Economy ................................................................................... 4 

Current Economic Position .......................................................................................................................... 4 

UKG Industrial Strategy....................................................................................................................................5 

Maximising UK Funding Streams through the Industrial Strategy .......................... 7 

Investment Summit ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

International Activity ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Steel .................................................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Domestic Activity .................................................................................................................................................. 11 

Circular Economy ................................................................................................................................................ 12 

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

 

 

Pack Page 26



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

3 

1. Introduction 

1. The Welsh Government remains firmly focused on delivering the First Minister’s 
priorities, particularly those relating to jobs. This commitment aligns with the 
four national priority areas set out in our Economic Mission for this term of 
Government, aimed at creating a more prosperous and fairer economy that 
builds on Welsh strengths and opportunities. 

2. We are deploying the full range of devolved levers at our disposal, including 
skills, finance, advice, energy, and planning, to support sustainable job creation, 
productivity, and long-term growth. 

3. On 23 June, the UK Government published its Industrial Strategy. Welsh 
Government worked in collaboration to ensure it focussed upon priorities for 
Wales. Welsh Ministers continue to engage with UK Government on delivering 
the Industrial Strategy and wider growth mission. These discussions focus on 
accelerating delivery and removing barriers to place-based developments such 
as Port Talbot, Freeports, and Investment Zones, as well as sector plans for 
clean energy, digital and tech, advanced manufacturing, defence, life sciences, 
and creative industries. 

4. Recent announcements demonstrate how this collaboration is delivering for 
Wales: 

a. Wylfa on Anglesey has been confirmed as the site for the UK’s first 
Small Modular Reactor (SMR). This investment will create thousands 
of high-quality jobs, strengthen energy security, and position Wales as 
a leader in clean energy innovation. 

b. North and South Wales have been designated as AI Growth Zones, 
unlocking significant investment and thousands of skilled jobs. These 
zones will accelerate digital transformation, attract global investment, 
and build a strong foundation for Wales to lead in AI and data-driven 
innovation. 

5. Together, these initiatives show how collaboration between Welsh and UK 
Governments is delivering on our shared ambition: creating secure jobs, driving 
innovation, and building a sustainable economy for generations to come. 

Pack Page 27



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

4 

2. The Welsh Economy 

Current Economic Position 

Economic Growth 

6. GDP in Wales grew by 0.6% between 2022 and 2023 in real terms, which was 
higher than for the UK as a whole (0.3%). 

Productivity 

7. While UK productivity fell by 0.2% in 2023, Wales’s productivity increased by 
1.3%. Out of the 12 International Territorial Level 1 regions in the UK, made up of 
Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland, and 9 English regions - productivity growth 
in Wales between 2022 and 2023 ranked 2nd. Wales’s productivity growth 
(14.1%) has been higher than that for the UK as a whole (10.5%) since 2009. 

Labour Market 

8. The latest labour market data reinforce the Chancellor’s speech as part of the 
Autumn Budget Statement on 26 November 2025, which highlighted the 
challenges facing the entire UK economy, many of these as a result of external 
factors such as the disruption in global trade as a result of higher U.S. tariffs. 

9. Statisticians have advised that the Annual Population Survey (APS) gives a 
more reliable view of the Welsh Labour Market than the Labour Force Survey 
(LFS). The latest unemployment rate estimate for Wales from the APS was 4.1% 
for the year ending June 2025, lower than the figure of 5.7% for July to 
September 2025 from the LFS. 

10. The long run trend for Labour Market participation in Wales, as measured by 
the employment rate, has been positive. According to the APS, the 
employment rate gap between Wales and the UK has narrowed from 3.3 
percentage points in the year ending June 2005 to 2.7 percentage points in 
the year ending June 2025. 

11. Over the last 10 years (2015-2025), median gross weekly earnings for full-time 
adults working in Wales grew by 47.2%, exceeding the increase for the UK as a 
whole (45.4%). 

12. Between 2022 and 2024, Wales’s percentage employment growth was the 
sixth highest of the 11 International Territorial Level 1 regions in Great Britain 
(made up of Wales, Scotland, and 9 English regions), outperforming East 

Pack Page 28



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

5 

Midlands, West Midlands, the South East, Yorkshire & the Humber and 
Scotland. 

13. The gender pay gap on a median hourly full-time basis (excluding overtime) in 
April 2024 was 1.9% in Wales and 7.0% in the UK. In Wales the gap narrowed 
by 3.0 percentage points and in the UK, it has narrowed by 0.5 percentage 
points compared to the previous year.  

Inflation 

14. The latest data show that earnings growth continues to outstrip inflation which 
is helping many households throughout Wales cope with cost-of-living 
pressures. UK CPI inflation stood at 3.6% in October 2025, down from peaks in 
2023, but still above the Bank of England’s 2% target. 

15. House prices in Wales rose 3.1% year-on-year to September, and rental 
affordability has improved, with tenants spending 31.7% of income on rent, 
down from 34.5% a year ago1. 

Business Demography 

16. There were 10,105 enterprise births in Wales during 2024, representing an 
enterprise birth rate of 10.1%. This means that 10.1% of all active businesses in 
Wales were newly established during the year. The 5-year survival rate for 
enterprises born in 2019 and still active in 2024 was 38.1%, broadly in line with 
the UK average. 

UKG Industrial Strategy 

17. On 23 June 2025, the UK Government published its Modern Industrial Strategy, 
a 10-year plan to boost business investment and drive growth in eight priority 
sectors (IS-8), which complements our Economic Mission. Each sector has a 
bespoke Sector Plan setting out its transformation vision by 2035. Continued 
engagement has been taking place, with a focus on maximising funding in 
Wales, where high-growth sectors such as Advanced Manufacturing, Clean 
Energy, Digital & Tech, Creative, Life Sciences, and Financial Services remain 
central. 

18. We have seen key strategic announcements for Wales, which will help to 
unlock growth potential, and which aligns with our strategic priorities, 
including: 

 
1 Savills USA | Welsh Housing Market and Supply Update – November 2025 

Pack Page 29

https://www.savills.us/research_articles/256536/382451-0


Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

6 

• Nuclear at Wylfa: UK Government has confirmed Wylfa as a priority site for 
Small Modular Reactors (SMRs), positioning Wales at the forefront of nuclear 
innovation and energy security. 

• AI Growth Zones: North and South Wales have been designated as an AI 
Growth Zones, unlocking investment and creating thousands of high-value 
jobs in digital and data-driven sectors. 

• Defence Growth Deal for Wales: A dedicated Defence Growth Deal will support 
advanced defence technologies, including Unmanned Aerial Vehicles and 
autonomous systems, leveraging Welsh assets such as Snowdonia Aerospace 
Centre. 

19. With all eight Sector Plans now published, implementation is moving forward. 
This includes the development of jobs plans across each sector. For example, 
the Clean Energy Plan sets out opportunities for over 15,000 jobs, 
complementing our Net Zero Skills Action Plan. 

20. Addressing skills gaps is a key part of the strategy, and we are engaging with 
Skills England to discuss how their proposed measures will operate alongside 
devolved responsibilities in Wales. This is about ensuring alignment rather than 
seeking clarification, given that skills policy is largely devolved. We also 
continue to work closely with UK Government on complementary strategies, 
including those on steel, infrastructure, SMEs, and trade, to understand 
developments and identify opportunities for alignment. 

21. We remain focused on delivering green jobs and skills across offshore wind, 
onshore wind, nuclear, carbon capture, tidal stream, and hydrogen. Barriers 
around grid capacity and finance persist. However, Welsh Government is 
committed to utilising our levers and working with UK Government to unlock 
these constraints at pace. 

22. The strategy aims to make it quicker and easier for businesses to invest, reduce 
regulatory burdens, cut industrial electricity costs by up to 25% from 2027, and 
accelerate grid connections through a new Connections Accelerator Service. 
This includes the Grid Accelerator Scheme, which is critical for unlocking clean 
energy projects in Wales. We are also working with UK Government around 
consultations on a Business Industrial Competitiveness Scheme (BICS) and a 
Supercharger Scheme. 

23. The Local Growth Fund will invest £547m of UK Government funding in Wales 
over three years. For the first time since we left the EU, decisions on these 

Pack Page 30



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

7 

important regional economic development funds will return to the Welsh 
Government. The Welsh Government has launched a consultation on the use 
of these funds, seeking views on key objectives to raise productivity and tackle 
economic inequalities. The new fund will align with the Welsh Government’s 
Economic Mission and with the UK Government's growth mission and 
Industrial Strategy.  

24. The Interministerial Group (IMG) for Business and Industry is key to progressing 
the Industrial Strategy and support its delivery. The next meeting is likely to 
take place in January 2026 hosted by Northern Ireland. 

Maximising UK Funding Streams through the Industrial Strategy 

25. A key lever for delivering the UK Government’s Industrial Strategy is ensuring 
Wales fully accesses and aligns with major UK funding streams. These include 
initiatives designed to accelerate investment, unlock strategic sites, and foster 
innovation-led growth across the eight Industrial Strategy sectors. 

26. National Wealth Fund: We are working closely with the National Wealth Fund 
(NWF) to maximise the benefits it can bring to Wales in line with strategic 
priorities, particularly in clean energy, advanced manufacturing, and 
infrastructure. This engagement aims to secure investment for projects that 
accelerate net zero, strengthen supply chains, and create high-value jobs 
across Welsh clusters. 

27. British Business Bank Engagement: The British Business Bank has committed 
£6.6bn to support innovation and entrepreneurship as part of the Industrial 
Strategy, including a new £4bn Industrial Strategy Growth Capital programme. 
This will deliver around £16bn of investment into smaller businesses and 
innovation across the eight priority sectors, crowding in approximately £12bn of 
private capital. Wales can leverage this to scale high-growth firms and 
strengthen innovation clusters.  

28. Strategic Sites Accelerator: The UK Government has launched a £600m 
Strategic Sites Accelerator to unlock development of high-potential industrial 
sites by addressing barriers such as grid connectivity, planning delays, and land 
remediation. This is particularly relevant for Welsh clusters in clean energy and 
advanced manufacturing, where grid access remains a critical constraint. 
Discussions with the UK Government are ongoing.  

29. Local Innovation Partnerships – Cardiff Capital Region: Cardiff Capital Region 
has secured at least £30m through the £500m Local Innovation Partnerships 

Pack Page 31



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

8 

Fund, backing locally led innovation in areas such as AI, life sciences, and green 
energy. This funding will strengthen collaboration between local authorities, 
businesses, and research institutions, building on Wales’s existing strengths in 
compound semiconductors and data science.  

30. Defence Growth Deal for Wales: Wales is one of five regions selected for a 
Defence Growth Deal, backed by £250m UK Government investment under 
the Defence Industrial Strategy. The Welsh deal will focus on unmanned aerial 
vehicles (UAVs) and autonomous systems, leveraging assets such as the 
Snowdonia Aerospace Centre and the Welsh Centre for Defence Autonomy. 
This will create high-value jobs and attract private investment into defence 
innovation.  

31. AI Growth Zones for Wales: North and South Wales have been designated as 
national AI Growth Zones. The zones will act as a hub for AI development, 
supported by £5m for local business adoption and skills, and reforms to 
accelerate planning and grid access.  

32. Together, these funding streams represent a significant opportunity to 
accelerate delivery of the Industrial Strategy in Wales, strengthen regional 
clusters, and crowd in private investment. Welsh Government will work with 
UK Government, local authorities, and industry partners to ensure Wales 
maximises these opportunities and addresses barriers to growth. 

Investment Summit 

33. Inward investment plays a critical role in the economy of Wales. The latest 
figures2 show that more than 1,500 foreign-owned companies are active in 
Wales, employing over 176,000 people.  

34. Wales is attracting global investment like never before. In 2024-25, Wales 
secured 65 Foreign Direct Investment projects, a 23% increase year-on-year 
and the second highest growth in the UK. These projects created 2,470 new 
jobs and safeguarded 1,652 more, the highest of any UK region. 

35. Building on this success, the Welsh Government’s Investment Summit will take 
place on 1 December 2025 to showcase Wales as a prime destination for 
international investment, highlighting dynamic sectors (semiconductors, 
creative industries, green energy, fintech, life sciences) and the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to sustainable economic growth. 

 
2 Foreign-Owned Companies in Wales 2024, Office for National Statistics 

Pack Page 32



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

9 

36. Wales offers a compelling investment proposition with world-class 
infrastructure, a skilled workforce, and a strategic location that provides access 
to major UK and European market, creating the conditions for businesses to 
succeed and grow. 

37. The Investment Summit will bring a real focus for business and government to 
work together and generate investment for the years to come. More than 300 
delegates from 27 countries are confirmed to attend the Summit.   

International Activity 

38. Through the Export Action Plan for Wales, the Welsh Government is supporting 
businesses across Wales to develop existing and new export markets for their 
products and services, to drive growth in Welsh exports. The focus is on 
inspiring businesses to take up exporting; building export capability; helping 
businesses to identify new overseas customers; and supporting businesses to 
get to overseas markets. Since the publication of the Export Action Plan, 
businesses in Wales have secured more than £370m of new export business as 
a direct result of Welsh Government export support. 

39. Since the publication of the International Strategy (April 2020), there have 
been 280 investments by foreign-owned companies which have created and 
safeguarded more than 24,000 jobs.  

40. Working with our Wales-based teams and the UK Government overseas 
network, our Welsh Government overseas offices in key markets across the 
world (USA, Canada, India, China, Japan, France, Germany, Belgium, Ireland, 
Dubai) also support Wales’s global ambitions, including supporting Welsh 
businesses to export and promoting Wales as an excellent place to establish a 
business.  

Steel  

41. There are external threats to the UK Steel Sector such as energy prices, global 
overcapacity, trade barriers and tariffs.  The steel sector expects that the soon 
to be published UK Government Steel Strategy will address the need for a 
competitive electricity pricing structure to allow UK-based steel companies to 
compete on a level playing field with their European counterparts. 

42. On 31 October the UK Government confirmed an increase to the Network 
Charging Compensation, from 60% to 90%, which will come into effect from 
April 2026. While the uplift was welcomed by steel companies, they must wait 
until 2027 to receive the uplift as the compensation for 2026 is to be paid a 

Pack Page 33



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

10 

year in arrears. The scheme compensates the steel industry for the carbon 
taxes paid via electricity bills.  

43. The UK steel sector is calling on the UK Government to address the UK/EU and 
UK/US steel trade arrangements.  It is imperative the UK Government 
maintains favourable arrangements for the trade of steel in these negotiations.  

44. The industry also wants the UK Government to publish their plans and a clear 
timetable for reforming the UK steel safeguards system so that improved 
quotas are in place before the current arrangements expire at the end of June 
2026. It is vital the new UK system aligns with that of the EU to avoid a 
potential increase in trade diversion to the UK. 

45. The Welsh Government attends the UK Government’s UK Steel Council.  The 
Council is currently prioritising the production of the UK Steel Strategy due to 
be published later in December. The Steel Strategy is investigating the policy 
issues our domestic steel sector continues to face, as well as researching the 
best opportunities for capital investment. The strategy will be informed by two 
independent commissioned reports concerning future steel demand and 
potential investment opportunities for the sector. We have made clear the 
strategy also needs to highlight the important role RD&I will play in meeting 
the challenges faced by the sector. Wales is well served by our well-established 
academic expertise on steel which positive support for RD&I funding will 
strengthen. 

46. 7 Steel (formerly Celsa) has been producing steel in Cardiff through an Electric 
Arc Furnace (EAF) since 2006. Once Tata Steel UK transitions to EAF steel 
production at the end of 2027, both Welsh-based steel producers will be using 
scrap-fed technology to make green steel and will require a significant amount 
of steel scrap. Therefore, securing a sufficient supply of domestically generated 
scrap metal of the required quality and quantity is of particular importance to 
Wales. 

47. On 26 June, the UK Government announced a new Public Procurement Notice 
for public sector procurers to consult the UK Steel’s digital catalogue and to 
consider if the national security exemptions in the Procurement Act 2023 are 
relevant to the procurement being undertaken.  Procurement is a devolved 
matter; Welsh Government officials are currently undertaking work to align the 
Welsh Government Public Procurement Note on steel to UK practices where 
appropriate.  

Pack Page 34



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

11 

48. Welcomed by the steel sector in June, the UK Government’s Trade Strategy 
stated the UK Government would seek to introduce legislation to adjust the 
Trade Remedies Authority’s (TRA’s) policy guidance and operating framework, 
enabling it to adopt a more assertive approach on issues like imports from 
countries with unfair market distortions.  The Cabinet Secretary has met with 
counterparts in the UK Government and pressed the need for the TRA to be 
able to react flexibly to the needs of industry and we are awaiting detailed 
information on the TRA’s new powers. 

Domestic Activity 

49. Here in Wales, we have several initiatives designed to provide support for 
businesses, such as: 

• Business Wales - provides businesses and entrepreneurs with a single point 
of contact for business information, advice and support from the public, 
private and voluntary sectors. 

• Development Bank of Wales - provides SMEs with access to finance, from 
loans to equity investment.  

50. Since the beginning of this Senedd term, Business Wales has dealt with 
almost 188,000 enquiries, demonstrating the scale of need, and our 
commitment to meeting it. This has translated into direct support for over 
33,200 businesses and entrepreneurs. Evidence shows businesses who engage 
with Business Wales have stronger survival rates. 

51. The Development Bank of Wales continues to play an increasingly important 
role in our economic strategy. This Senedd term it has supported more than 
18,800 jobs through over £512m of investment. This is critical in ensuring 
businesses have the tools they need to succeed and remain rooted in their 
local communities. 

52.  The Development Bank of Wales recently announced it has created and 
safeguarded over 50,000 jobs across Wales, marking a significant milestone 
with £1bn invested in equity, debt, and property since 2017.  

53. Recognising the importance of place-based economic development, our 
regional economy teams (North, Mid & South West, South East) work with a 
range of indigenous and overseas investors to support their ambitions for 
growth. Business Wales works closely with our innovation and regional 

Pack Page 35



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

12 

economy teams and in partnership with local authorities and the wider 
ecosystem.  

Circular Economy3 

54. The Welsh Government is committed to moving to a circular economy in 
Wales, where waste is avoided, and resources are kept in use for as long as 
possible.  

55. Our circular economy strategy, Beyond Recycling, was published in 2021 and 
sets out key actions to accelerate our transition to a circular economy - our 
target is to be a zero waste, net zero carbon nation by 2050, using a fair share 
of our planet’s resources. 

56.To date, we have transformed from a nation which recycled less than 5% of its 
municipal waste with over 95% going to landfill in 1999, to now reaching 
66.6% recycling and landfilling only 0.9%. Recycling is now simply a part of 
who we are as a nation. 

57. We intend to build on these strong foundations by accelerating the move 
towards a circular economy in Wales and going Beyond Recycling. 

Economic opportunities 

58. We are second best in the world in terms of recycling. This puts us in a great 
position to reap the economic benefits from moving to a circular economy as 
well as making our supply chains more resilient to global volatility and climate 
impacts.  

59.The transition to a circular economy presents significant opportunities for 
Wales to unlock greater economic value from the materials we are world class 
in collecting. The Circular Economy Fund for Business provides funding for 
businesses to take important steps like adapting their processes to use 
recycled material and reduce the materials they need to use. 50 businesses 
have benefited from this funding so far. 

60. Our supply of high-quality recycled materials is also helping to attract inward 
investment and create jobs in Wales. In Deeside, the redevelopment of Shotton 
Mill has attracted investment of over £1 band safeguarded 147 jobs. The site will 
become one of the UK’s largest recycled packaging centres, creating a further 
220 green jobs. Businesses like this know that in coming to Wales they can 

 
3 The Circular Economy is the responsibility of the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for 
Climate Change and Rural Affairs. 

Pack Page 36



Welsh Government evidence paper on General Medical Services for the Senedd Health and Social 
Services Committee 

 

13 

access good quality recycling thanks to the efforts of people in Wales. Other 
examples include a facility to extract precious metals from electronic waste 
(Royal Mint), and the processing of plastic for recycling (Jayplas). 

Conclusion 

61. This paper sets out the steps we have taken to support growth and jobs and 
accelerate delivery of our Economic Mission during challenging economic 
times. Our focus remains clear: creating quality jobs, driving green growth, and 
delivering on the First Minister’s priorities across all regions of Wales. 

62. Recent progress demonstrates the power of collaboration between Welsh and 
UK Governments in securing strategically important projects for Wales, such as 
Wylfa and AI Growth Zones, that will shape our economy for decades to come. 
These partnerships show what can be achieved when governments work 
together to dismantle barriers and unlock investment. 

63. Looking ahead, inward investment will continue to play a vital role in building a 
resilient, inclusive, and sustainable economy. The upcoming Investment 
Summit provides a major opportunity to showcase Welsh strengths in 
advanced manufacturing, clean energy, digital and tech, life sciences, and 
creative industries, ensuring we seize the opportunities of the future. 

64. Our ambition is unwavering: a Wales that delivers quality jobs, strong 
businesses, and thriving communities for generations to come. 

65.Welsh Government intend to remain fully focused on long-term impact across 
all regions of Wales whilst ensuring that we capitalise on Wales’s strengths and 
seize the opportunities of the future in areas including advanced 
manufacturing, defence, clean energies, digital and tech, as well as life sciences 
and creative industries. We remain committed to a Wales which delivers on 
quality jobs, strong businesses, and thriving communities. 

 

Pack Page 37



 

 

 

 

 

 

21 November 2025 

 

Dear Mark, 

Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill –  
follow-up to evidence session 

Thank you for attending the final evidence session on the Development of Tourism and Regulation of 
Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill. There were a couple of points not reached during the session, to 
which I would welcome your response:  

 The South Wales Fire and Rescue Service has noted that the Bill, in section 9, requires the 
Visitor Accommodation Provider (“VAP”) to have “carried out” a fire safety risk assessment. 
They suggest that the VAP “should just be responsible for ensuring one is carried out” as 
the VAP “may not be competent to conduct a risk assessment and may wish to appoint 
someone who is”. Do you agree with this suggestion? 

 What is your response to the suggestion from the South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 
that the wording in section 9 of the Bill “gives the impression that one smoke alarm per 
floor is sufficient as a minimum”?  The South Wales Fire and Rescue Service suggests that 
“risk should determine the degree of the detection provided” and “the provision of smoke 
alarms should be informed by a suitable and sufficient the fire risk assessment for the 
premises”. 

Given that the Committee has now finished its evidence gathering, I would be grateful if you could 
respond by midday on Friday 28 November, so that your response can be taken into consideration as 
we draft our report. 

Pwyllgor yr Economi,  
Masnach a Materion Gwledig 
— 
Economy, Trade, and  
Rural Affairs Committee  

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddEconomi@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddEconomi 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddEconomy  
0300 200 6565 

Mark Drakeford MS 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language 

Pack Page 39

Agenda Item 3.1

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s168223/DTRVA%2027%20-%20South%20Wales%20Fire%20and%20Rescue%20Service.pdf


 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Andrew RT Davies MS 
Chair: Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Committee 

 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English 

Pack Page 40



Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r Gymraeg 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language 
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
 
 
 
Andrew RT Davies MS 
Chair, Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 
 

27 November 2025 
 

Dear Andrew,  

 

Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill  

 

Thank you for your letter following the final evidence session on the Development of 

Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill on 20 November. Please find 

my response below to the additional questions set out in your letter. 

 

Fire Safety Risk Assessment 

 

I agree with South Wales Fire and Rescue Service (SWFRS) that a visitor accommodation 

provider should consider whether they are sufficiently competent to conduct a fire risk 

assessment themselves, or whether they should appoint somebody else to conduct the 

assessment on their behalf, as set out in our statutory guidance on fire safety in guest 

accommodation. The Bill is clear that the ultimate responsibility for this assessment rests 

with the visitor accommodation provider, as does the responsibility to put appropriate 

precautions in place. This reflects the wider approach in the Bill to be clear that 

responsibility for ensuring the accommodation is fit rests with the provider.  

 

I do not agree, however, with SWFRS’ literal interpretation of section 9 that a visitor 

accommodation provider would be required to conduct the assessment personally. The 

wording of the requirement is similar to that in article 9(1) of the Fire Safety Order, which 

provides that “the responsible person must make a suitable and sufficient [fire risk] 

assessment”.  It is common practice and entirely lawful for responsible persons to discharge 

this duty by contracting with an external provider or delegating the task to another suitably 

qualified person. The same is true for the duty under the Bill. As such, I do not believe any 

amendment in this respect is necessary.  

Pack Page 41

mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-09/guest-accommodation-safe-from-fire_0.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-09/guest-accommodation-safe-from-fire_0.pdf


 

 

 

Smoke Alarms 

 

I also agree with SWFRS that risk should determine the degree of the detection provided, 

and this should be informed by a suitable and sufficient fire risk assessment, considering 

the specific circumstances and requirements of the accommodation or premises in question. 

However, I believe there is added value in visitor accommodation providers being required 

to demonstrate compliance with a specific minimum standard as part of the licensing 

process.  

 

The Bill is clear that a visitor accommodation provider must ensure there is at least one 

functioning smoke alarm for each storey of the premises, notwithstanding the precautions 

they have otherwise identified as necessary. This minimum requirement in the Bill simply 

sets out a demonstrable standard all providers of regulated visitor accommodation must 

meet. It does not supersede their responsibilities under the Fire Safety Order to make their 

own assessment and put appropriate equipment in place for the detection and warning of 

fire; nor does it preclude the installation of additional alarms where the assessment of risk 

justifies the need. We will make this clear in guidance and training on the scheme. 

 

This is also consistent with the approach taken in The Renting Homes (Fitness for Human 

Habitation) (Wales) Regulations 2022, which introduced a similar requirement in the private 

rented sector.  

 

However, as these matters have been raised with the Committee by both SWFRS, and Mid 

and West Wales Fire and Rescue Services, and you in turn have raised them with me, I 

have asked officials to consider the requirements under section 9 more generally, with a 

view to considering whether any amendments could or should be made to the Bill at Stage 

2, to ensure it better reflects the existing obligations under the Fire Safety Order. 

 

I look forward to seeing the Committee’s report and recommendations on the Bill, and 

discussing them at the general principles debate. 

 

I am copying this letter to the Chairs of the Finance and Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committees for their information. 

 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r Gymraeg 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language 
   

 

Pack Page 42



 

Mr Andrew RT Davies MS 
Committee Chair 
Economy, Trade & Rural Affairs Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff CF99 1SN 
 
 
28th November 2025 
 
Supplementary correspondence: Economy, Trade & Rural Affairs Committee 
evidence session on the Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor 
Accommodation (Wales) Bill 
 
Dear Mr Davies, 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to appear before your committee on 20th November 
and give evidence on the Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor 
Accommodation (Wales) Bill.  During the discussion, I offered to write to the 
committee with further details about the resource and technical implications of 
imposing liability on intermediary platforms for offences under Sections 46 and 47 of 
the bill. 
 
I would restate that the proposal to make online platforms and their senior officers 
legally liable for the accuracy of a registration number inputted by a visitor 
accommodation provider (VAP), among other requirements, is out of keeping with 
established practice in other jurisdictions that have introduced short-term lets 
regulation, including the Scottish licensing rules, the forthcoming registration system 
in England and the EU STR Regulation. It is unreasonable and disproportionate for 
platforms and their employees to face prosecution for criminal offences as a result of 
actions that they have not participated in, over which they have no control, and of 
which they are unaware. It is incompatible with the well-established legal principle of 
intermediary liability, which also provides platforms with protections against general 
monitoring obligations. These safeguards are fundamental to the effective 
functioning of online businesses and it is unclear to us whether the Welsh 

 
 
 

Airbnb Ireland Unlimited Company 
Registered in Dublin, Ireland - Company No. 511825 
Registered Address: 3 Dublin Landings, North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, D01 C4E0, Ireland 
Directors: Dermot Clarke (UK), Killian Pattwell & Andrea Finnegan  

Pack Page 43



 

Government recognises the extent to which it is proposing such a significant 
departure from the long-standing framework on digital regulation in the UK, 
especially when the desired objectives could be achieved through other, simpler 
means. 
 
It is reasonable that the Welsh Government wants to ensure that accurate 
registration numbers should be displayed, but there appears to be confusion as to 
how to achieve this. In our conversations with officials, it has been suggested that, in 
addition to imposing liability on platforms and their officers, this problem could be 
overcome by requiring platforms to validate registration numbers by syncing with the 
registration system through use of an API. This solution was alluded to in remarks by 
Jenny Rathbone MS during our evidence session, as well as by Anthony Pritchard, 
Chief Digital Officer at the Welsh Revenue Authority (WRA), who told your committee 
on 5th November that there were steps platforms could put in place to validate 
registration numbers and property addresses, and that this would be “easy” to do. 
 
In fact, API integration between platforms and the registration system operator would 
create considerable problems for end-users, would be disproportionately 
burdensome and costly for both intermediaries and the Welsh Government, difficult 
for smaller accommodation providers or platforms to implement, and would 
disempower the WRA from enforcing the rules. I have set out below a more detailed 
explanation of our concerns, as requested by your committee, along with our 
suggestions for a simpler and less burdensome but equally effective way of 
achieving the Welsh Government’s objective, which we understand to be ensuring 
that VAPs are not able to continue to list unlicensed properties, and that 
non-compliant premises can be swiftly removed from platforms. 
 

●​ API integration is highly vulnerable to inadvertent user error, and 
disruptive to businesses and guests. The API model informally suggested 
by the Welsh Government would rely on matching full address strings. In our 
experience, this approach is highly vulnerable to minor errors or 
discrepancies, for example where the user makes a spelling mistake, where 
streets or neighbourhoods have multiple names or abbreviations, or where 
addresses in government databases differ stylistically from the corresponding 
addresses that show up in Google Maps, from the address that the platform 
holds, or even from the way that people write their own address. An API 
would automatically block or remove from platforms not just egregious 
discrepancies, but where there were any formatting inconsistencies, even if 
minor or clearly inadvertent. This would be even more of an issue were the 

 

Pack Page 44



 

WRA to require that platforms validate addresses, as suggested by Anthony 
Pritchard in his evidence to you on 5th November, and would be highly 
problematic given that addresses contained on booking platforms may not 
exactly match the way they appear in other databases.  

●​ Removes enforcement decision making powers from the WRA. The 
automated nature of an API would remove the WRA (and indeed humans) 
from any oversight of enforcement, and could potentially disrupt 
investigations into suspected non-compliance in other areas. The API system 
proposed by the Welsh Government would automatically and immediately 
block publication or remove any existing accommodation premises from 
intermediaries in the event of any discrepancy between the registration 
number entered by the VAP and the number held by the WRA. 

●​ An API solution would increase WRA workload significantly. In scenarios 
such as those outlined above, the WRA would have to investigate and assist 
VAPs in resolving address mismatches, registration errors, and refusal 
appeals, requiring increased resources to manage complaints and appeals, 
and the need for technical support staff to investigate and assist legitimately 
licenced VAPs in resolving any delisting of their premises. The issues 
highlighted above in relation to address accuracy would only increase the 
issues and workload here. 

●​ Expensive to implement on both sides. APIs require significant investment 
to implement and maintain, which will need to be borne by both the 
registration scheme operator and booking intermediaries. For these types of 
schemes, the costs can often fall in the region of hundreds of thousands of 
pounds. 

●​ Complexity of maintenance. API models are not only expensive to 
implement, but are complex to maintain. Common issues like system outages 
and technical problems will require ongoing technical support to address and 
to field inquiries and requests for assistance from VAPs. 

●​ Disadvantages smaller booking intermediaries and VAPs who take 
bookings online through their own systems. Every platform has a different 
operating model, so stages of software integration and development will vary 
widely across companies. Smaller intermediaries may not have the resources 
to integrate and maintain their integration with the API, which would create 
unfairness and favour larger platforms at the expense of smaller businesses 
or start-ups. 

●​ Unclear who could gain access to the API and under what conditions. It 
is not clear whether every platform would automatically be approved for 

 

Pack Page 45



 

integration with the registration system, or whether there would need to be a 
vetting process in the case of new or startup booking intermediaries. 

 
In my oral evidence, I mentioned that platforms are keen to assist, and there are 
steps we can take which would create a very high barrier to non-compliance. Instead 
of placing liability on platforms for the accuracy of a registration number inputted by a 
third party, intermediaries should require in-scope VAPs to enter a registration 
number on their listing in a format that is consistent with the unique design of the 
licensing regime in Wales. Ensuring registration numbers must follow a complex, set 
format creates a very high barrier to fraud or deliberate attempts to evade the 
obligation on VAPs to input an accurate number. Platforms can display the inputted 
number in a single place in any online listing, so the WRA or local enforcement 
bodies can quickly ascertain if a listing is displaying a registration number. 
 
The WRA should also engage early in conversations with platforms about what an 
effective notice and takedown process might look like. We would encourage them to 
look at the data sharing model that has been adopted by the UK Government for the 
register of short-term lets in England, under which platforms will share with the 
system operator all registration numbers used on their platform on a monthly basis, 
and by return receive a list of those which should be deactivated. This would ensure 
that any illegal, unlicensed or non-compliant listings can be speedily removed. We 
understand that this is the framework that is being considered for the overnight 
accommodation register, due to launch in October 2026, and there is no reason why 
it would not be similarly effective for the licensing scheme should the bill be approved 
by the Senedd. We also believe that this reinforces the logic of the original intention 
to wait until registration had been fully implemented, before taking learnings from 
that and only moving ahead with licensing if evidence and data showed that it was 
necessary. 
 
While Airbnb strongly disagrees that there is a need to introduce licensing for the 
purpose of regulating the health and safety of visitor accommodation in Wales, these 
changes would bring the bill more closely in line with international best practice, 
achieve the objective of preventing unlicensed or non-compliant short-term lets from 
being able to take online bookings, and avoid a situation whereby platforms are held 
liable for activity over which they have no control. We do not accept the comments 
by Professor Drakeford, made during the evidence session on the afternoon of 20th 
November, that in raising our concerns platforms are seeking to evade their 
responsibilities. Although we note his comments that having in place the procedures 
suggested in this correspondence could constitute a “reasonable defence” for 

 

Pack Page 46



 

offences under the bill, this still creates significant uncertainty for all intermediaries, 
leaves it to a future court to determine the precise interaction between platforms and 
the licensing scheme, and raises the question of why it is necessary to impose such 
liability at all, particularly given your officials suggested that they did not anticipate 
enforcing against platforms. 
 
I hope this is helpful, but please get in touch if your committee has any further 
questions on these points. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Carl Thomson 
Public Policy Manager, UK 

 

Pack Page 47



                                                                     
Sir Chris Bryant MP 
Minister of State for Trade 
Department for Business and Trade 

 

Old Admiralty Building 
Admiralty Place 
London  
SW1A 2DY 
United Kingdom 

 
T +44 (0) 20 7215 5000 
E Bryant.Correspondence@businessandtrade.gov.uk  
W gov.uk 

 

 
Andrew RT Davies MS 
Chair 
Welsh Parliament 
 
By email: SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales 
 

Our ref: MCB2025/12637 

 

 21 November 2025 
 
Dear Andrew,  
 
Thank you for your correspondence of 16 October, regarding trade defence. 
 
On 7 October, the European Commission announced a new legislative proposal for a trade 
measure on steel imports into the EU. This will replace their current steel safeguard, which 
was due to expire in June 2026. The proposed new measure includes increased out of quota 
tariff rate of 50% and a cut in steel import quotas overall by 47%. You can access the 
proposed regulation here: EUR-Lex - COM:2025:726:FIN - EN - EUR-Lex. 
 
It is not yet clear when the proposed EU measure will be implemented, or whether the design 
will be changed as the EU takes this through their legislative process and negotiations with 
their Free Trade Agreement partners, of which the UK is one. 
 
Whilst this decision is not specifically targeted at the UK, we recognise it will be concerning 
for many in the UK steel sector and local steel communities. We are taking this very 
seriously.  
 
We are actively engaging at all levels with the European Commission, and key Member 
States, with the aim of securing a positive outcome for the UK.  
 
This Government recognises how vital steel is to our economy. This is why we’ve committed 
up to £2.5 billion to rebuild the sector. This is in addition to the £500m for Port Talbot.  This 
is while taking divisive action by introducing the Steel Industry (Special Measures) Act, to 
allow Government to intervene and ensure the continuation of this important national 
industry and avoid pre-emptive closures.  
 
To support the wider industry, we’ve taken steps to reduce electricity prices by cutting 
network charges via the British Energy Supercharger and changed Government 
procurement rules to ensure UK-made steel is considered for all public projects, giving 
access to more than £400bn spent by the Government each year. We also remain the only 
country to benefit from a preferential 25% tariff on steel and aluminium exports to the US, 
avoiding a global tariff of 50%.  
 
We will continue to take a cool-headed approach to any possible tariffs and remain prepared 
to defend the UK's national interest where it is right to do so. We reserve the right to take 
any action in response to any changes to our trading relationships.  

Pack Page 48

Agenda Item 3.2

mailto:SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Feur-lex.europa.eu%2Flegal-content%2FEN%2FTXT%2F%3Furi%3DCOM%253A2025%253A726%253AFIN%26qid%3D1759812776067&data=05%7C02%7CMax.Velarde%40businessandtrade.gov.uk%7Cf7474b80fd40483a77b508de05cd876d%7C8fa217ec33aa46fbad96dfe68006bb86%7C0%7C0%7C638954577462955302%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BduM8UgPuaVTRWCQaER%2BT18PHSlXr91eaUXNh1j8Tow%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 
However, we also believe we are well-placed to engage effectively with the EU as they take 
this through their forward process and we are already engaging with the EU regarding the 
proposal. 
 
My officials will continue to engage with yours as discussions continue with the EU and I will 
keep you updated in a timely way.  

 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 

 
 

Sir Chris Bryant MP 
Minister of State for Trade 

Department for Business and Trade 

Pack Page 49



Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r Gymraeg 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language 
 
 
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 
fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 
corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 

 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref  
 
 
Mike Hedges MS 

Chair, Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 
 

 
25 November 2025 

 
 

Dear Mike, 

 

Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) 

Bill  

 

During the session on 10 November, in which I gave evidence as part of your 

scrutiny of the Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation 

(Wales) Bill, I committed to respond in writing to any questions the Committee had 

that were not reached, to aid your scrutiny of the Bill. As such, please find my 

response below to the questions as set out in your letter of 12 November.  

 

Legislative consent 

 

1. Does the Government consider that any of the provisions of the Bill require 

the consent of HM The King or the Prince of Wales? If so, when do you 

anticipate that any required consents will be received? 

 

The Welsh Government is of the view that given the property interests of the 

Duchy of Cornwall in Wales (which revert to the Crown when there is no Duke of 

Cornwall) that the consent of the Duke of Cornwall and the King will be required 

Pack Page 50

Agenda Item 3.3

mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru


  

in relation to the Bill. We anticipate these consents will be in place to allow the Bill 

to proceed at Stage 4, should the Senedd approve it.  
 

Development of the Bill 

 

2. The Explanatory Memorandum refers to a “paucity of reliable data currently 

available” regarding the number of self-catering lets available in Wales and 

“no data available on the characteristics of premises or levels of 

compliance with the existing statutory obligations”. Why did you conclude 

that the Bill is needed? 

 

There has been a significant growth in the “short term let” type of accommodation 

in recent years. The number of self-catering properties on the non-domestic 

rating list increased by 60%, from 7,000 to over 11,000, between April 2019 and 

April 2023. 

 

This growth reflects the contrasting  ease of entry to the market. To let a house 

out to a long-term tenant, you have to register as a landlord, obtain a licence or 

appoint an agent and ensure that statutory obligations are being met. To let out a 

property to visitors on a short term basis, it can simply be listed on an on-line 

platform, and a person can start taking bookings. 

 

Industry bodies tell us that not all providers in the short term let market are aware 

of their statutory obligations, and as a result  they are able to operate at a lower 

cost than those who do what is required. This was borne out in Scotland. When 

they introduced a licensing scheme local authorities in Scotland found that a 

significant number of applicants were not able to produce the documentation 

which was required.  

 

The case for the legislation is set out in the explanatory memorandum, which 

includes references to local authority research, academic analysis, thinktank 

reports, industry analysis, and a House of Commons library report on changing 

patterns of providing visitor accommodation in England, as well as our own work, 

all of which contribute to the evidence of need for this Bill. 

 

The limitations of the evidence about compliance, are part of the reason this Bill 

is needed, and a paucity of specific data is not sufficient reason not to act on the 

patterns and impacts which are clearly evident.  

 

3. You stated in Committee that: “The Bill has been consulted upon in one 

way or another in every single year of this Senedd term. There have been a 

long series of opportunities particularly with the industry itself to make 

Pack Page 51



  

sure that the Welsh Government was made aware of people’s views and to 

adapt the proposals to take account of that.” 

What opportunity, if any, have stakeholders been given to comment on 

specific proposals as they appear in the Bill? 

 

Stakeholders have been consulted throughout this Senedd term, with regular 

engagement and specific opportunities for the industry to provide feedback. That 

feedback has influenced the nature of the Bill that has been introduced.  

 

Officials have discussed key aspects of the Bill with stakeholders and industry 

bodies in different ways during the lead-up to introduction, including meeting with 

the Visitor Economy Forum, holding engagement sessions at Regional Tourism 

Fora meetings, and holding various separate meetings with industry 

representatives. This is, of course, in addition to the ongoing regular engagement 

with the sector by both officials and Ministers.  

 

Stage 1 scrutiny provides  a further opportunity for stakeholders to share their 

views  Should the Bill succeed then we will work closely with the sector to shape 

many of the operational details of the scheme and the development of the 

regulations and guidance that will underpin it. 
 

4. Did you consider delaying bringing forward the Bill until after the 

implementation of the registration regime established by Visitor 

Accommodation (Register and Levy) Etc. (Wales) Act 2025? 

 

It was considered, but we chose to bring the registration scheme forward by 

placing the provisions within the Visitor Accommodation (Register and Levy) Etc. 

(Wales) Act 2025 (“the VARL Act”) instead of in this Bill, as originally intended.  

 

As it stands, we expect all providers to be registered by 2027. If we were to take 

time to consider the data from registration before bringing legislation to the 

Senedd, we would be delaying this Bill by at least another three years. This 

would mean the licensing scheme might not be in place until 2032 or 2033 – 

straddling another Senedd election, and more than a decade after we committed 

to deliver it in the Co-operation Agreement.  

 

The Bill is intended to create a fair regulatory playing field, meeting the 

challenges which are significant enough to justify legislating now.  

 

The licensing scheme set out in the Bill will not be implemented until after the 

national register is in place, allowing that data to inform and influence operational 

details, procedures and processes. Introducing the Bill now also allows for more 

coherent and efficient operational arrangements and implementation of both 

registration and licensing.  

Pack Page 52



  

5. In Committee, you stated that “the vast bulk of licenses will be issued 

through as automatic a process as possible by the Welsh Revenue 

Authority”, but that, “In the minority of cases where a more direct form of 

inspection or intervention is needed”, the Bill leaves it open for the Welsh 

Government to work with local authorities or with Visit Wales to physically 

inspect premises. Why hasn’t this been clarified in advance of the Bill being 

introduced, and why has this not been included in more detail on the face 

of the Bill? 

 

The Bill is clear that the licensing scheme is the responsibility of the Welsh 

Ministers and the Welsh Government, as I set out in my letter to the Economy, 

Trade and Rural Affairs Committee on 18 November, in order to maintain a 

national scheme and provide strategic oversight at a national level.  

 

What the Bill allows for is flexibility to make the most efficient and effective 

arrangements to deliver that legislation in practice. This allows us to work with a 

range of partners to consider where  others might deliver some of those functions 

on our behalf. It avoids creating a rigid framework so that, as operational plans 

develop, we are able to maximise opportunities and efficiencies, and exploit 

synergies, such as with registration and the levy to deliver the Bill if the Senedd 

chooses to pass it.  

 

In practice Welsh Government and the Welsh Revenue Authority (WRA) will work 

together to ensure the registration and licensing systems are as seamless as 

possible for the user, WRA and the licensing authority. I would like to see a single 

system for visitor accommodation providers to manage their registration, 

licensing and levy matters in one place, reducing duplication. That is the basis we 

are working upon, so that the registration system managed by the WRA can be 

expanded to support the licensing scheme in the future.  

 

We are also considering how large a role technology such as artificial intelligence 

may be able to play in the application process, which will shape the scale of the 

team needed to process applications, and the types of decisions they will need to 

make. We anticipate the majority of applications to be straightforward, and the 

more we are able to automate via the IT system, the better for all involved.  

 

In what we expect to be a small number of cases, which are more complex and 

potentially require a physical inspection, we will work with local authorities to 

explore whether it would make sense for them to support us with those functions. 

Similarly, we will work with Visit Wales to consider what role they might play in 

supporting the licensing scheme. 
 

 

 

 

Pack Page 53



  

Delegated powers 

 

6. During our meeting on 10 November, in response to a question about 

whether the Bill strikes the right balance between what is on the face of the 

Bill and what is provided for in terms of delegated powers, you stated that: 

“Sometimes there are things where you might put something on the face of the 

Bill that actually create a straitjacket for the industry, and where regulations allow 

a different level of engagement with the industry. Most of the regulations we are 

talking about will be subject to consultation further to Senedd affirmation, and 

where the flexibility the regulations allow means that the Bill and its requirements 

will work better for the industry itself. Sometimes there've been choices between 

the two aspects you've suggested where my view was, I'd resolve them in favour 

of what I think works for the industry, rather than the clarity that I know the 

Senedd would sometimes like to see…” 

 

Please can you provide us with any examples of specific provisions in the 

Bill that either reflect requests from the tourism industry to defer detail to 

regulations rather than placing it on the face of the Bill, or that support your 

belief that this would be their preferred approach? 

 

The industry has been clear with us in our engagement on the Bill that they want 

the licensing process to be simple and straightforward for providers who are 

doing the right things. The industry has asked for flexibility in how the scheme will 

operate; and in some areas, this can only be achieved by leaving the detail to 

regulations. This will allow us to work closely with the industry in the development 

of some of the operational practicalities , whilst still providing the Senedd with 

oversight of the scheme.  

 

In terms of specific examples, I provided one during our session. Namely, the 

renewal of licences. Other examples include the training requirement and 

provisional licences. These are areas where the sector raised points during their 

engagement with officials, particularly in relation to business continuity and 

minimising bureaucracy. These views have influenced the decision to take 

powers to work with the sector in detail to develop operational processes and 

make regulations to propose to the Senedd. This will allow us to work with the 

sector take advantage of future advances in technology and fulfil our wish to keep 

things as light-touch as possible. 

 

The specific justifications for other powers taken are varied, but follow a similar 

theme – they provide the flexibility to ensure an agile scheme that works in 

practice, enable the scheme to be extended to other types of visitor 

accommodation in future, or, in some cases, relate to similar powers under the 

VARL Act, recognising the interaction between registration and licensing. The 

Pack Page 54



  

justification and policy intention for all of these powers has been set out in the 

Statement of Policy Intent, shared with Committees on 5 November. 

 

7. Please could you explain the Government’s justification for taking the 

Henry VIII powers in the following sections: 

 

These are powers which can only be exercised with the approval of the Senedd. 

Their exercise is not at the discretion of the Welsh Ministers. Overall, they are 

intended to reduce the need for repeated new primary legislation to address 

minor matters, while still preserving parliamentary oversight. 

 

a-c Sections 6(2), 17(1) and 19(3) 

 

As set out in group one  of the Statement of Policy Intent, the overarching policy 

intent for these provisions, alongside other relevant provisions, such as the power 

under section 5(1)(b) to prescribe additional descriptions of regulated visitor 

accommodation, collectively, is to allow the Welsh Ministers to extend the scope 

of the scheme to any other types of visitor accommodation in Wales, should the 

Senedd deem it appropriate.  

 

The justification for the Henry VIII powers within these provisions, therefore, is to 

ensure the legislation can be considered holistically in these circumstances. The 

powers enable key parts of the licensing scheme to be updated or adapted to 

reflect any extension to the scope of the scheme, including the fitness 

requirements, the licence conditions that may apply, and the approval 

requirements for licence applications in light of any changes to the conditions. In 

addition, the powers provide the flexibility to update and adapt the scheme over 

time, to keep pace with changes across the visitor accommodation sector as new 

risks, technology or best practice is identified, and avoid divergence with wider 

regulatory standards or legislation, unless it is deemed appropriate. In this way 

they are necessary to ensure the scheme continues to deliver its intended 

purpose.  

  
d. Section 25(2) 

 

This provision is to ensure the procedures and application processes for the 

renewal of a licence are provided for, without requiring the duplication of 

information already held by the licensing authority. The regulations will also 

provide for the continuity of a licence during the renewal process.  Setting these 

processes and procedures out in regulations also allows the renewal process to 

evolve over time, allowing for a more nuanced and responsive approach in 

consultation with stakeholders, and to take advantage of advances in technology 

Pack Page 55



  

or lessons learned over time, streamlining the process and reducing 

requirements of providers, wherever possible.  

 

The justification for the Henry VIII power in this provision is as that set out above 

for sections 6, 17 and 19. It will ensure adaptations to the scheme can be 

considered holistically, without the need for primary legislation to make minor or 

technical changes to ensure the scheme remains fit for purpose. 

 

e. Section 49 

 

Partnerships and unincorporated bodies can have complex structures, and the 

initial provisions may not cover every scenario as business practices evolve. The 

policy intention for this power, and consequently, the justification for the inclusion 

of Henry VIII powers within it, is to enable the Welsh Ministers to adapt the 

legislative framework and the licensing scheme it creates.  In this way it will be 

possible to respond to new types of business arrangements as practical issues 

arise in the application of the Bill or the VARL Act to partnerships and 

unincorporated bodies during implementation or over time, and to prevent any 

loopholes developing that could undermine the efficacy of the licensing scheme. 

This power replicates corresponding powers under the VARL Act and is 

necessary to ensure parity between that Act and this Bill, given registration is a 

licence condition.  

 

f. Section 56(1) 

 

This provision, including the Henry VIII power it contains, is a standard provision 

in complex legislation such as this, primarily for the purposes of giving effect to 

the Bill, and ensuring that its effect in practice is as intended. It is particularly 

important in this Bill, given its interaction and interdependencies with the VARL 

Act.  

 

Clarity and effect of proposals 

 

8. The Bill states that it will form part of a code of Welsh law relating to 

tourism. We note your comments and the comments of your official made 

on 10 November. In relation to the proposed code, you stated that the code 

will make relevant law relating to tourism “available in one place”, and your 

official later stated that “everything is published together in one place, and 

described as a code”. From a practical point of view: 

 

 

 

Pack Page 56



  

a. Where can a user find a standard definition of what the Welsh 

Government means by a code? 

 

The publication arrangements for Welsh legislation remain the responsibility of 

the King’s Printer for Wales. However, by also publishing on a Welsh Government 

website such as Cyfraith Cymru, we will be able to co-locate all of the legislation 

that forms part of a Code on one webpage.  

 

Cyfraith Cymru already includes an explanation of what a code of Welsh law is, 

what it means, and the intended purpose of such codes via their page on the 

future of Welsh law. And, for the purposes of the Tourism code, we will include 

information in the tourism context, should the Bill be passed by the Senedd.  

 

b. What changes, if any, will legislation.gov.uk make to their website so that 

a user knows that a tourism code exists, whether legislation is part of that 

code, and how to find other legislation that is part of the same code? 

 

We are still in the relatively early stages of creating codes of Welsh law in this 

way, and the Welsh Government will continue to work with the National Archives 

(who manage legislation.gov.uk) to ensure, as far as is possible, that all codes of 

Welsh law are clearly presented and accessible to users.  

 

However, the primary source of legislation and information on codes, at least in 

the immediate future, will be Cyfraith Cymru; and we will ensure this is promoted 

in any communications and engagement with the tourism sector and the wider 

public, so that people are able to easily find the code and all relevant legislation 

and information contained within it, made under it, or related to it. The intention is 

that Cyfraith Cymru will create a “one stop shop” for tourism legislation, allowing 

users to see, at a glance, the legislation in the code, explanatory material, 

guidance and signposts to any other legislation that may be relevant.  

 

9. Section 39(4) of the Bill provides that disclosure of information between the 

Welsh Ministers and the list of bodies in subsection (3) does not breach 

obligations of confidence or “any other restriction on the disclosure of 

information (however imposed)”. What types of restriction would this 

provision override and why is it necessary? 

 

Subsection 39(4) has been included to make clear that a visitor accommodation 

provider cannot restrict the ability of information to be shared, where this is 

necessary for the effective co-operation between relevant regulators, and there is 

otherwise a lawful basis for doing so. It is necessary to ensure information can be 

shared between the licensing authority and other regulators to facilitate 

compliance, enforcement and the consideration of applications.  

Pack Page 57

https://law.gov.wales/future-welsh-law
https://law.gov.wales/future-welsh-law


  

 

However, the provisions under section 39 need to be read alongside section 

183A of the Data Protection Act, as set out under 39(5). This emphasises that all 

processing of personal data must take place lawfully, and in line with data 

protection legislation.  

 

10. Section 46 prohibits advertising or marketing visitor accommodation at 

premises without including certain information in a manner and form 

specified by the Welsh Ministers. How will those requirements be specified 

in practice and why did you decide not to specify requirements in 

regulations? 

 

The Bill clearly specifies the information which must be included. This is a 

registration number, and information about how to access the visitor 

accommodation directory to find out more about it. Specifying exactly how this is 

provided in guidance rather than regulations gives us the room to work in detail 

with platforms and booking agencies to ensure the required information is 

communicated as clearly and effectively as possible to the visitor.  

 

Visitor accommodation is advertised in a wide variety of ways, on many different 

types of platforms and in many formats. We need to work through the practical 

solutions for all involved, without creating an unreasonable administrative burden. 

This is a detailed operational matter which, I concluded,  was not best navigated 

through regulations. 

 

11. Section 47 creates an offence for failing to comply with the requirements 

for advertising visitor accommodation in section 46. Could a letting agent 

or online booking platform be criminalised for non-compliance with section 

46? Or just a visitor accommodation provider? 

 

This offence would apply to any platform advertising or otherwise marketing 

visitor accommodation. I do not  think it is unreasonable to expect booking 

platforms to take responsibility for publishing accurate information. The 

registration number and associated information will be available through the 

public register, and latterly the Directory of Visitor Accommodation, for anybody 

to check.  

 

It is not the purpose of the Bill to punish people who have made mistakes, but it 

does seek to create a robust system that gives visitors confidence in 

accommodation they book in Wales. The advertising requirements play a central 

role in that. It shows all visitors to Wales that their accommodation is operating 

within a clear regulatory system, and anyone seeking to advertise their visitor 

Pack Page 58



  

accommodation in Wales should very quickly find out that they cannot do so 

without registering and, if necessary, obtaining a licence.  

 

This provision will apply to all registered visitor accommodation, not just self-

contained self-catering visitor accommodation.  

 

The point at which this provision is commenced will be determined as 

implementation plans are developed, to ensure a smooth implementation and 

transition to the new scheme. We will  work with booking platforms and 

destination management organisations to consider the timing and any additional 

specific transitional arrangements in this regard. This would ensure the scheme 

has time to bed in, and provides the opportunity to work with booking platforms 

and the industry, as well as WRA, to put processes in place that are reasonable, 

sensible and practical. These advertising requirements are an integral part of the 

way the scheme works, and its consistency with the corresponding enforcement 

regime across the rest of the Bill reflects that. 

 

Other questions 

 

12. Why has the Cabinet Secretary chosen not to include a provision on the 

face of the Bill that requires the Welsh Ministers to undertake a post-

implementation review? 

 

While there is no explicit provision for a post-implementation review on the face 

of the Bill, the Welsh Government is committed to reviewing the legislation after 

implementation to ensure it is operating effectively, as set out in the Explanatory 

Memorandum.  

 

In addition, following on from the scrutiny of the Bill, the licensing authority and 

the scheme will remain the responsibility of the Welsh Ministers, who are already 

subject to all the normal avenues of Senedd scrutiny. 

 

I would also want the terms and timing of any review to be dictated by what could 

best improve the service we offer visitors and visitor accommodation providers, 

and the legislative framework to promote tourism in Wales, rather than an 

arbitrary deadline. Similarly, the responsible Committees in the next Senedd and 

its successors will also be able to conduct their own inquiries.  

 

I would, however, welcome the Committee’s view as to whether they felt the Bill 

should specify specific aspects of the scheme which should be considered in the 

review. 

 

 

Pack Page 59



  

13. Are you expecting to bring any particular amendments to the Bill forward at 

Stage 2? 

 

We always continue to review legislation after it has been introduced, and it is 

likely that we will identify some areas where the intention of the Bill could be 

made clearer, to ensure it is interpreted as intended, and has the intended effect. 

I therefore expect to bring forward some amendments at Stage 2 for this purpose.  

 

I will also, of course, consider the recommendations from all the Committees who 

consider the Bill during this stage of scrutiny, and whether I need to bring forward 

any amendments to the Bill at Stage 2 as a result. 

 

14. Should the Bill be passed and enacted, when do you envisage the licensing 

scheme being implemented? 

 

We expect the national register to be in force in 2027, which should enable the 

licensing scheme to be operational during 2029/30.  

 

 

I am copying this letter to the Chairs of the Finance and Economy, Trade and Rural 

Affairs Committees, for their information. 

 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 

 
 
Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r Gymraeg 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language 
   

 
 
 

Pack Page 60



 

 

 

 

 

25 November 2025 

Dear Andrew, 

Petition P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary profession in Wales. 

The Petitions Committee met on 24 November and had a private discussion about the above petition, 
submitted by Linda Joyce-Jones. This followed an informal meeting between the Chair and petitioner 
on 10 November, to discuss latest developments with the Competition and Markets Authority’s 
ongoing market investigation into veterinary services for household pets.  

As you are aware, the Petitions Committee has been considering this petition for some time, and 
following a short inquiry we submitted evidence to the CMA inquiry. The CMA’s Wales representative 
has also been keeping us informed of developments. As agreed by the Committee last October, I also 
wrote to your predecessor Paul Davies MS, to request that ETRA consider an inquiry on the matter 
within its forward work programme. 

At that time both our Committees had agreed to keep a watching brief on the petition pending the 
conclusion of the CMA inquiry. Paul Davies indicated that “once the CMA had reported the 
Committee would consider its next steps. This may include holding an inquiry if appropriate.” At that 
time the CMA investigation was expected to conclude in May 2025, but this substantial investigation 
was subsequently extended into 2026. Having published its provisional findings on 15 October, the 
CMA is consulting further on its reform proposals, before issuing a final report in February-March 
2026, with an administrative deadline of May 2026. 

The petitioner has raised concerns with me and with the Chair of the CMA inquiry about the direction 
taken between the publication of their initial work and the latest Provisional Findings. She notes the 
British Veterinary Association is named as a “main party” in this investigation, and questions the extent 
to which the voice of consumers (companion animal owners) is now being drowned out by the 
interests of the veterinary profession and in particular the large corporates.  

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 Andrew RT Davies MS  

Chair 
Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Committee (ETRA) 

Pack Page 61

Agenda Item 3.4

https://www.gov.uk/cma-cases/veterinary-services-market-for-pets-review
https://www.gov.uk/cma-cases/veterinary-services-market-for-pets-review#provisional-findings


 

 

The petitioner understands that many aspects of this investigation are non-devolved, however she is 
of the view that there should be a fully independent external ombudsman for the veterinary 
profession in Wales, and that this regulatory role should be made a devolved matter.  

I appreciate that at this point in the Senedd term, ETRA’s work programme may already be fully 
committed until dissolution. However, as the Committee responsible for scrutiny of animal welfare, it 
would be appreciated if you could advise whether there is scope for you to take up this matter with 
the Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs, perhaps in the course of your general 
ministerial scrutiny if there is no capacity for a short inquiry. It would be useful for the petitioner to 
know the Welsh Government’s position on the inquiry, its provisional findings and the direction of 
travel, and what it means for the future of veterinary services in Wales. 

For your Committee’s information, the petitioner is also planning an event in the Senedd in January, 
which I have agreed to host as Chair of the Cross Party Group on Animal Welfare.  

The Petitions Committee will be reviewing all petitions that remain open at the end of this Senedd 
term and producing a legacy report. We expect this to be one of the significant ongoing issues to be 
reported on and recommended for follow-up by Members of the Seventh Senedd.  

The full details of the Committee’s consideration of the petition, including the correspondence and 
the actions agreed by the Committee can be found here: 
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=39835  

I would be grateful if you could send any response by e-mail to the clerking team at 
petitions@senedd.wales. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Carolyn Thomas MS 
Chair 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 62

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=39835
mailto:petitions@senedd.wales


Ken Skates AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth a Gogledd Cymru 
Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Eich cyf/Your ref: KS/PO/605/2025 
 
 
 
Andrew RT Davies, MS  
Chair of Economy,  
Trade, and Rural Affairs Committee  

 
SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales 
 
 

 
25 November 2025  

 
 
Dear Andrew  
 
Thank you for your letter regarding an update on the progress of the Freight and Logistics 
Strategy.  
 
Following discussions at the Irish Sea taskforce meetings, I decided that a combined port 
and maritime, freight and logistics plan would be preferable, given the strong links and 
interdependencies between the sectors. A scoping document for the plan has been drafted 
and is being refined following external stakeholder feedback. This scoping document will 
then be developed into the plan, which will set out for the sectors a list of recommended 
priority actions for the next Welsh Government to consider. We will publish this plan before 
the end of the Government term.  
  
My officials are also preparing the formation of a new Ports and Maritime Transport, Freight 
and Logistics Council, which I see as a natural progression from the current Irish Sea 
Taskforce. I intend to hold the first meeting of the new Council before the end of the Senedd 
term, with the aspiration that it becomes a supportive driving force to help the next Welsh 
Government deliver tangible benefits to both sectors.  Ahead of the first meeting of the 
Council I will update you on its initial membership and its proposed terms of reference.  
 

  

Pack Page 64

Agenda Item 3.5

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales


Finally, we have formal agreement to start procuring work on mapping Welsh truck stops 
and expect to issue approval to consultants to commence this work within the next few 
weeks.  
 
Thank you for your continued engagement on these matters. I will keep you updated as 
work progresses.  
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
Ken Skates AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth a Gogledd Cymru 
Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 65



Bil Datblygu Twristiaeth a Rheoleiddio Llety Ymwelwyr (Cymru) |  
Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill 

  

DTRVA - Additional evidence | Tystiolaeth ychwanegol 

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament 

Pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig |  
Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs Committee 

Bil Datblygu Twristiaeth a Rheoleiddio Llety Ymwelwyr (Cymru) | 
Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) 
Bill 

Ymateb gan: Bythynnod Gwyliau Gogledd Cymru 

Evidence from: North Wales Holiday Cottages 

Pack Page 66

Agenda Item 3.6

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=738
https://business.senedd.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=738
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=617
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=617
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=617


Further submission relating to the Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation Bill 

From: Barbara Griffiths, North Wales Holiday Cottages 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit further evidence. As a long-established holiday letting 
agency, we work directly with self-catering owners across North Wales and see, first-hand, the 
positive impact that clear regulation can have on safety, guest confidence and fairness across 
the sector. With that experience in mind, I would like to highlight some concerns and suggest an 
amendment that I believe would support the Welsh Government’s stated aims. 

I would strongly welcome an amendment to the Bill, and to the Explanatory Memorandum 
section 3.9, so that non self-contained self-catering accommodation, guest houses and B&Bs, 
and spare rooms are included from the start. These categories should be required to provide 
exactly the same documentation as self-contained self-catering properties. 

At the heart of this Bill is visitor safety, and the reassurance that booked accommodation is safe 
and fit to occupy. Guests already assume this is the case wherever they stay. By covering only 
self-contained self-catering at this stage, many small guest houses, B&Bs and spare rooms are 
left outside the scope of the initial requirements. My concern is that, once public 
communications around the scheme begin, visitors may understandably assume that all 
accommodation in Wales is fully compliant, when this may not be true. 

Since all accommodation should be registered before the Bill comes into force, it seems 
reasonable that all providers could be required to evidence the same core documents prior to 
receiving a licence. These include Gas Safe certification, Electrical Safety certification, Public 
Liability Insurance and a Fire Risk Assessment. 

There is no need to create new safety criteria to include these other sectors, as they are already 
covered by existing legislation. The Welsh Government’s own publication, A Guide to Making 
Your Guest Accommodation Safe from Fire, states that: 
“The Fire Safety Order applies if anyone pays to stay in your premises or in a room within 
your premises, other than to live there permanently. The Fire Safety Order applies to all 
short-term lets that are not let as a principal residence, even if you rent out a room in your 
premises only once…” 
The same guidelines require interconnected smoke or heat detectors in all rooms except 
bathrooms, and carbon monoxide detectors where gas, oil or solid fuel appliances are present. 
This is already a higher standard than that required by Rent Smart Wales for long-term 
tenancies. 

Statutory Registration will help identify operators who occasionally offer whole homes or 
second homes on OTA platforms and may be unaware of their legal responsibilities. However, 
by excluding spare rooms and B&Bs at this stage, we will not achieve the level playing field or 
fair competition that the Bill aims to create. Operators who have made the effort to comply with 
updated 2023 fire regulations, including in B&B and spare-room settings, have already faced 
considerable cost. Continuing to exclude some sectors prolongs competitive disadvantage for 
compliant businesses. 

Welsh Ministers have committed to delivering a Licensing scheme within the current Senedd 
term. This could have been incorporated into the Visitor Levy and Registration Bill. Instead, it 
has arrived at the last moment, with significant detail left to secondary legislation. Despite 
years of discussion, there has been no public consultation on this Bill itself, and most 
contributors had less than three weeks to assess its implications before giving evidence. This 

Pack Page 67



reinforces the perception that the drafting has been rushed, leaving insufficient time for proper 
engagement across all accommodation types. 

The Cabinet Secretary noted that including B&Bs and spare rooms would require further 
consideration, and that these were beyond the scope of the Bill. They also indicated that there 
are “particular characteristics” that must be worked through with the industry. In practice, the 
fundamental requirements for these sectors are the same as self-catering: Gas Safe, Electrical 
Safety, Fire Risk Assessment and appropriate insurance. These are simply the essentials 
required to ensure a home is safe to stay in, which is what every guest expects. 

An assumption appears to have been made that the growth in self-catering properties increases 
the likelihood of non-compliance. However, spare-room accommodation has expanded 
dramatically in recent years, from almost non-existent to a substantial and rapidly growing 
sector. It is unclear whether Welsh Government or the Cabinet Secretary has reliable data on 
the scale of this sector in Wales. If numbers have grown quickly, the same assumption about 
potential non-compliance could logically apply. 

The Cabinet Minister has expressed support for including occasional providers, noting the 
expectation that they also hold all relevant documentation. If this is the expectation, it should 
apply consistently across all types of visitor accommodation, whether fully self-contained or a 
single room. 

The Bill currently anticipates an annual licensing fee of around £75. However, there is a risk that 
the true cost of setting up and administering the scheme could drive this significantly higher. 
With the lowest Scottish fee standing at £205 for three years, Wales could find itself with an 
annual fee closer to £200. Over three years this would amount to £600, a very different 
proposition from the figure initially referenced. 

The argument for annual renewal, partly because some certificates last longer than a year, 
could equally support a longer licence period. Many new operators would prefer a multi-year 
licence to reduce administrative burden as they establish their business. 

There is also concern regarding the amount of information that will be made publicly available. 
It should be straightforward for guests to check whether a property is registered and licensed, 
for example through a licence number displayed in advertising. However, publishing personal 
details such as an owner's name or home address could expose them to harassment or online 
accusations. All guests already receive contact details for the owner or responsible person 
once they have booked and paid, particularly when booking through an agency. Full operator 
details should certainly be available to Local Authorities, but not necessarily to the wider 
public. 

There is a misconception that if some self-catering owners withdraw, others will fill the gap. In 
reality, there is very little spare capacity during high-demand periods, such as school holidays 
and major events. Some properties achieve 182 days, but many in remote areas struggle to 
attract guests between November and March, and multi-generational properties rarely fill 
outside the school holidays. While off-season capacity may be plentiful, peak-season capacity 
is not. Any significant reduction in operators would mean losing visitors during the periods 
Wales relies on most. 

Finally, agencies, DMOs and marketing platforms cannot reasonably be held responsible for 
incorrect information supplied by providers. Checking a single vehicle’s road tax status is 
entirely different from checking hundreds or thousands of registration or licence numbers 

Pack Page 68



across multiple agencies. While information may be publicly available, there is no existing 
software capable of carrying out such checks at scale. Manual checking would be 
unmanageable except for the smallest operators. It remains essential that the provider 
themselves is responsible for ensuring the accuracy of information they publish. 

 

Pack Page 69


	Agenda
	2 General Ministerial Scrutiny: Economy
	Evidence paper - Welsh Government

	3.1 Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill: follow-up to evidence session
	Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill –  follow-up to evidence session
	Response letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language - 27 November 2025
	Letter from Airbnb - 28 November 2025

	3.2 Future of Welsh steel: Trade defence
	3.3 Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill: Follow-up from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee meeting held on 10 November 2025
	3.4 Petition P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary profession in Wales
	3.5 Freight and Logistics Strategy
	3.6 Development of Tourism and Regulation of Visitor Accommodation (Wales) Bill: Additional evidence
	Additional evidence cover - North Wales Holiday Cottages - En only.pdf
	DTRVA - Additional evidence | Tystiolaeth ychwanegol

	Additional evidence - North Wales Holiday Cottages - En only.pdf




